Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-5-2015

English v. Taylor Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 42947

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the case

This is a personal injury action for stroke injuries sustained when Plaintiff Carol English underwent a medical procedure performed by Defendants James Taylor, D.O., and Eastern Idaho Health Services, Inc., dba Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center (the Medical Defendants). In performing the procedure, the Medical Defendants used a medical device designed, manufactured and sold by Defendants Cook Incorporated, Cook Medical Incorporated, and/or Cook Medical Technologies, LLC (the Cook Defendants). The question of liability turns on whether and to what extent the Cook Defendants' device was defective, and whether and to what extent the Medical Defendants negligently performed the procedure.

This appeal arises out of the trial court's dismissal of the Englishes' causes of action against the Medical Defendants on timeliness grounds.¹

2. Course of proceedings below

The trial court granted the Medical Defendants' motions for summary judgment, dismissing the Englishes' medical negligence claims based upon the trial court's determination that Idaho Supreme Court precedent required the Englishes to serve a copy of their motion to amend the complaint on the Medical Defendants in order to commence the Englishes' claims

¹ This appeal concerns the trial court's dismissal of the Englishes' medical negligence causes of action only. The Englishes' claims against the Cook Defendants were not dismissed, and the Cook Defendants are therefore not parties to this appeal. The district court certified its dismissal orders as final, and the district court action against the Cook Defendants has been stayed pending this appeal.

against the Medical Defendants. The trial court then denied the Englishes' motion for reconsideration, which was based upon a ruling by the United States District Court for the District of Idaho that the Englishes' Second Amended Complaint was timely filed as of December 10, 2013, the date on which their motion for leave to amend the complaint was filed. The trial court certified its judgments of dismissal as final pursuant to Rule 54(b).²

3. Statement of facts

On September 17, 2011, Carol English went to the hospital with a nose bleed. After attempting other treatments to stop the nose bleed, the Medical Defendants attempted an epistaxis embolization procedure on Mrs. English, a procedure wherein PVA foam embolization particles are injected into the area of a nose bleed to create an embolus and stop the nose bleed. To accomplish this injection, the Medical Defendant used a device called the Cantata Superselective Microcatheter, which was designed, manufactured and sold by the Cook Defendants. While in the course of injecting the particles into Mrs. English's left internal maxillary artery, the catheter unexpectedly released all of the PVA particles into Mrs. English's arteries. The particles clotted and caused a stroke, resulting in permanent and disabling injuries.³

The cause of the release of all the PVA particles is at the heart of the liability question.

The Medical Defendants recorded in their patient chart and contend in this case that the

Microcatheter was defective by reason of a linear tear in the catheter, observed by

² R Vol. 2, p. 336 (Order Granting Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification of Judgments of Dismissal of Medical Defendant and Rule 54(b) Certification).

 $^{^3}$ R Vol. 1, pp. 10-11 (Complaint and Jury Demand, ¶¶ 1-6).

Defendant/Appellee Dr. James Taylor after the procedure, which caused the release of all the embolization particles. However, the Medical Defendants inadvertently disposed of the Microcatheter at issue after the procedure was completed.⁴ Without having access to the Microcatheter for evaluation and analysis, the Englishes anticipated that the Cook Defendants would seek to avoid liability by placing blame on the Medical Defendants, contending that medical negligence in performing the procedure, not a defective product, caused Mrs. English's injuries and Plaintiffs' damages.

Believing this to be more likely a products liability case than a medical negligence case, the Englishes' counsel communicated at length with counsel for the Medical Defendants concerning the Englishes' claims, including the bases of possible medical negligence claims against the Medical Defendants, and proposed tolling agreements and cooperative investigation into the facts. When the Medical Defendants declined these overtures, the Englishes concluded that they needed to pursue both products liability claims against the Cook Defendants and medical negligence claims against the Medical Defendants.

The Englishes' products liability claims and medical negligence claims were subject to different procedural rules, which is where the problems giving rise to this appeal began.

Pursuant to the Idaho medical malpractice statutes, 6 in order for an injured patient to pursue a lawsuit against a medical provider, he or she must satisfy statutory prelitigation requirements,

⁴ R Vol. 1, p. 89 (Affidavit of Ralph L. Dewsnup, ¶ 3).

⁵ R Vol. 1, pp. 89-90 (Affidavit of Ralph L. Dewsnup, ¶¶ 4-6).

 $^{^6}$ Idaho Code §§ 6-1001 *et seq*.

which include submission of a written statement of the bases of the medical negligence claim, a hearing in which the plaintiff presents his or her claims and the defendant responds to those claims before a panel convened by the Idaho Board of Medicine for that specific purpose, and a written opinion concerning the merits of the claims from the panel. The initiation of this prelitigation procedure tolls the statute of limitations until 30 days after the prelitigation panel files its written opinion.

The Englishes filed suit against the Cook Defendants in the Idaho Seventh Judicial District Court on September 16, 2013, he last day before the statute of limitations ran. They concurrently filed with the Idaho Board of Medicine and served upon the Medical Defendants a written statement of their claims against the Medical Defendants, setting forth the circumstances of the alleged malpractice and its consequences, but just as they had done during the preceding months in discussions with counsel for the Medical Defendants. Pursuant to statute, the Board of Medicine then appointed a panel, which held a hearing on Plaintiffs' claims. The Medical Defendants had an opportunity to respond to Plaintiffs' claims during the hearing. On November 18, 2013, the panel filed a written opinion with the Board of Medicine concerning the

⁷ *Id.* at § 6-1001 (setting forth the prelitigation hearing procedure, which is "compulsory as a condition precedent to litigation").

⁸ Id. at § 6-1006; James v. Buck, 111 Idaho 708, 727 P.2d 1136, 1139-41 (1986).

⁹ R Vol. 1, pp. 9-15 (Complaint and Jury Demand). The First Amended Complaint, making only formalistic and not substantive changes, was then filed September 18, 2013. R Vol. 1, pp. 16-23.

¹⁰ IDAHO CODE § 6-1007.

¹¹ *Id.* at §§ 6-1001, 6-1002.

substance of the claims.¹² The 30-day statutory tolling period ended on December 18, 2013, and the limitations period expired on December 19, 2013.

While the Medical Defendants were proceeding through the prelitigation process, the Cook Defendants had removed the case pending in the Idaho Seventh Judicial District Court to federal court on the basis of diversity jurisdiction. Although the Englishes had complied with the statutory prelitigation requirements, they were required to obtain leave of court in order to amend their complaint to name the Medical Defendants, pursuant to Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Accordingly, the Englishes moved to amend their complaint on December 10, 2013, within the limitations period, filing their proposed Second Amended Complaint with the motion, which asserted the same claims that the Medical Defendants had discussed with the Englishes' counsel in the preceding months, and to which the Medical Defendants had just responded in the prelitigation hearing. The Cook Defendants, as parties to the lawsuit, were served with the Motion to Amend and the Amended Complaint. As the Medical Defendants were not parties to the lawsuit yet, they were not served with a copy of the motion for leave to amend. The Cook Defendants are precisely to the lawsuit yet, they were not served with a copy of the motion for leave to amend.

^{12 7 77 1 4 4 7 4 6 7 1 1 1 6 7 5}

 $^{^{12}}$ R. Vol. 1, p. 47 (affidavit of Marvin M. Smith, \P 3).

¹³ R Vol. 1, pp. 95-100 (Notice of Removal).

¹⁴ R Vol. 1, pp. 102-17 (Plaintiffs' Motion and Supporting Memorandum for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint, as well as the Second Amended Complaint filed therewith).

¹⁵ As counsel for the Hospital has acknowledged, "[a]t the time Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Leave to file Second Amended Complaint [the Medical Defendants were] not part[ies] to the lawsuit." R Vol. 1, p. 56 (Memorandum in Support of EIRMC's Motion for Summary Judgment, 2).

The effect of the filing of the motion for leave to amend is the central issue in this appeal. Idaho Supreme Court precedent provides that the filing of a motion for leave to amend with the proposed amended complaint commences a cause of action seeking to add new parties, where, as here, the new parties have knowledge of the substance of the claims against them. The Englishes, therefore, timely filed their motion for leave to amend and the amended complaint, knowing that if any defendant knew the substance of the claims against them, the Medical Defendants did, having not only engaged in discussions with the Englishes' counsel specific to the substance of potential medical negligence claims against them for many months, but also having been through the statutory prelitigation process that required the Medical Defendants' knowledge of and response to the substance of the very claims contained in the amended complaint, and even a written panel opinion concerning the substance of those claims.

The federal district court ultimately granted the Englishes' Motion to Amend on January 16, 2014, ¹⁶ and the Englishes formally filed their Second Amended Complaint in federal court that same day. As diversity was lost, the case was then remanded to state court. ¹⁷ The Medical Defendants filed motions for summary judgment, arguing that the Englishes' claims against them were untimely because they were formally filed on January 16, 2014, after the limitations period expired on December 19, 2013.

1

¹⁶ R Vol. 1, p. 119 (Docket entry order granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint).

¹⁷ R Vol. 1, p. 121 (Order to Remand).

Puzzled at this challenge, given the clarity of the law, the Englishes requested clarification from the federal district court concerning its ruling granting the Englishes' motion for leave to amend relative to its effect on the commencement of their claims against the Medical Defendants. The federal district court clarified its ruling, stating: "Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint was effectively filed on December 10, 2013, the date it was filed with Plaintiffs' Unopposed Motion to Amend." 18

Notwithstanding the clarity of Idaho law, the district court granted the Medical Defendants' summary judgment motions. When asked to reconsider in light of the federal court's clarification, the district court reiterated its prior ruling, with no analysis of the federal court's ruling or the applicable law. The Englishes appeal from these rulings.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure apply in all actions in federal court, and in diversity cases, federal courts apply federal law on matters of procedure. Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure governed the motion to amend the complaint in this case, and the effect of a motion to amend under that rule is a question of procedure governed by federal law. Where this case was pending in federal court at the time the motion to amend was filed, did the district court err in rejecting the federal court's determination under federal law that the action against the Medical Defendants was deemed filed as of the date the motion to amend was filed?

¹⁸ R Vol. 2, p. 240 (Federal court's April 9, 2014 Order granting Plaintiffs' motion to clarify).

- 2. Under Idaho law, an action against a defendant named in an amended complaint is deemed filed as of the date a motion to amend the complaint to name the new defendant is filed if that defendant had notice of the substance of the proposed amendment within the limitations period. The Medical Defendants knew the substance of the Englishes' claims against them because they had discussed those claims with Plaintiffs' counsel and had gone through a statutory prelitigation procedure. Did the district court err in ruling that the Englishes' amended complaint adding the Medical Defendants as defendants was untimely because the motion to amend was not served on them?
- 3. Other jurisdictions that, like Idaho, deem actions commenced when a complaint is filed with the court do not require that a new defendant have notice of the substance of the proposed amendment before a motion to amend the complaint to name the new defendant is deemed to commence the action against that defendant. Should this Court depart from that line of cases and require notice of a motion for leave to amend to add new parties before the action against the new party is deemed commenced?

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The Englishes do not seek attorney fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. Summary of argument

This matter had been removed and was pending before the United States District Court for the District of Idaho at the time the Englishes moved for leave to amend their complaint under Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The federal court properly applied federal procedural law and ruled that the complaint against the Medical Defendants was deemed filed as of the date the motion to amend pursuant to Rule 15 was filed. That ruling should decide this appeal.

Even if this case had not been governed by federal procedural law at the time the motion to amend was filed, Idaho law would likewise have deemed the amended complaint filed as of the date the Englishes filed their motion to amend. This Court has determined that an Idaho action against a new defendant is deemed commenced upon the filing of a motion to amend the complaint to add the new defendant where the new defendant has "notice of the substance of the amendment" within the limitations period. The trial court interpreted this language to mean that a plaintiff seeking to add a new defendant by way of a motion to amend is required to serve a copy of the motion to amend on the proposed new defendant (a non-party) within the limitations period, or else file a separate action and consolidate the two actions. The Medical Defendants had abundant notice of the substance of the claims against them within the limitations period, but because they were not parties and were therefore not served with the motion to amend, the trial court deemed the Englishes' action against the Medical Defendants untimely. This Court's pronouncement of Idaho law is clear that "notice of the substance of the amendment," not service

of a motion to amend, is the determinative factor in deciding whether the motion to amend commences the action, and the Englishes met that requirement.

The fact that the Medical Defendants had abundant notice of the substance of the claims against them within the limitations period should decide this appeal. But if not, the Englishes additionally urge the Court to consider both the necessity and practicality of the notice requirement, where the requirement causes non-uniform treatment of civil defendants, gives rise to unnecessary procedural problems, is not imposed in other jurisdictions with action commencement rules like Idaho's, and runs counter to Idaho's policy favoring procedures that allow claims to be decided on their merits.

2. Standard of review

On an appeal from a grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard of review that a trial court applies in ruling on the motion. ¹⁹ "All disputed facts are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party."

Summary judgment is only appropriate in cases where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.²¹ In the absence

¹⁹ Infanger v. City of Salmon, 137 Idaho 45, 47, 44 P.3d 1100, 1102 (2002).

²⁰ Conway v. Sonntag, 141 Idaho 144, 146, 106 P.3d 470, 472 (2005) (citing Infanger, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d at 1002).

²¹ IDAHO R. CIV. P. 56(c).

of disputed issues of material fact, where only a question of law remains, "this Court exercises free review." 22

3. The question of when the amended complaint was deemed filed is a procedural question governed by federal procedural law, under which an amended complaint is deemed filed as of the date a motion to amend is filed.

When the Englishes filed their motion to amend, this case was pending in federal court. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure apply in all civil actions in federal court. Of course, in cases such as this that are based on diversity of citizenship jurisdiction, the federal courts apply state substantive law, but they apply federal law on matters of procedure. This is particularly true of matters covered by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure:

When a situation is covered by one of the Federal Rules, the question facing the Court is a far cry from the typical relatively unguided *Erie* choice: the court has been instructed to apply the Federal Rule, and can refuse to do so only if the Advisory Committee, this Court [i.e., the United States Supreme Court], and Congress erred in their prima facie judgment that the Rule in question transgresses neither the terms of the Enabling Act nor constitutional restrictions.²⁵

"Thus, the full-blown *Erie* analysis--first determining whether a matter is substantive or procedural and then applying state law on substantive matters--does not apply if the matter in question is covered by a Federal Rule of Civil Procedure."

²² *Infanger*, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d at 1002.

²³ FED. R. CIV. P. 1.

²⁴ E.g., Hiatt v. Mazda Motor Corp., 75 F.3d 1252, 1255 (8th Cir. 1996) (citing Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938)).

²⁵ Hanna v. Plumer, 380 U.S. 460, 471 (1965).

²⁶ *Hiatt*, 75 F.3d at 1258.

The United States Supreme Court made this principle clear in *Shady Grove Orthopedic Associates*, *P.A. v. Allstate Ins. Co.*:²⁷ "We must first determine whether [the federal rule in question] answers the question in dispute. If it does, it governs – [state] law notwithstanding – unless it exceeds statutory authorization or Congress's rulemaking power. We do not wade into *Erie's* murky waters unless the federal rule is inapplicable or invalid."²⁸ The Court went on to observe:

The test is not whether the rule affects a litigant's substantive rights; most procedural rules do. *Mississippi Publishing Corp. v. Murphree*, 326 U.S. 438, 445, 66 S.Ct. 242, 90 L.Ed.185 (1946). What matters is what the rule itself regulates: If it governs only "the manner and the means" by which the litigants' rights are "enforced," it is valid; if it alters "the rules of decision by which [the] court will adjudicate [those] rights," it is not. ²⁹

Here, before the Englishes could amend their complaint in federal court to add the Medical Defendants as parties, they had to file a motion to amend their complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15. The effect of a motion to amend under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15 is a question of procedure governed by federal law. 30 Indeed, this Court has also

²⁷ 559 U.S. 393 (2010).

²⁸ *Id.* at 398 (citations omitted).

²⁹ *Id.* at 407 (citation omitted) (per Scalia, J., joined by Roberts, C.J.; Thomas, J.; and Sotomayor, J.)

³⁰ E.g., Loudenslager v. Teeple, 466 F.2d 249, 250 (3d Cir. 1972) ("the construction and application of Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure . . . is entirely a matter of Federal practice," governed by federal law); Meyers v. Am. States Ins. Co., 926 F. Supp. 904, 908-09 (D. S.D. 1996) ("A motion to amend is a procedural matter governed by federal law.") (citing Hiatt, 75 F.3d at 1258); Heiser v. Ass'n of Apt. Owners, 848 F. Supp. 1482, 1487 (D. Haw. 1993) (in diversity cases, state law applies on questions related to statutes of limitations, but the federal rule will generally apply in determining whether an amendment to a complaint relates back)

acknowledged that when an action is commenced is a procedural question,³¹ and that federal courts have applied "analogous rules of federal procedure" in determining the effect of filing a motion for leave to amend.³² Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15 "is a truly procedural rule because it governs the in-court dispute resolution processes rather than the dispute that brought the parties into court; consequently it does not transgress the Rules Enabling Act," and "there is no credible basis for impugning its constitutionality."³³ Thus, federal law governed the question of whether the amended federal complaint was deemed filed as of the date the motion to amend was filed.

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