Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-31-2015

English v. Taylor Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42947

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

Accordingly, a prelitigation screening panel request does not equate to the filing of a lawsuit against a party nor does it give a potential party sufficient notice that a lawsuit will be commenced within the applicable statute of limitations. Thus, there is no dispute that EIRMC had no notice of a lawsuit being filed against it until February 3, 2013; forty-six (46) days after the statute of limitations had run. Consequently, the situation present in this case places EIRMC exactly in the same position as the third-party defendant in *Griggs* and requires dismissal of EIRMC from this action. Therefore, EIRMC respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's Opinion and Order Granting EIRMC's and Dr. Taylor's Motions for Summary

Judgment.

C. It defies logic that a federal rule or federal law could govern EIRMC in this matter where the federal court never had jurisdiction over EIRMC.

EIRMC was never part of the federal lawsuit and the federal court never had jurisdiction over EIRMC in said lawsuit. Plaintiffs admit that once they filed their Second Amended Complaint on January 16, 2014, the federal court was deprived of subject matter jurisdiction. R. Vol. 1, p. 52. The federal court agreed that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction. R. Vol. 2, p. 291. When service of process was effected on EIRMC it was with a state court summons. Thus, the federal court never had personal jurisdiction over EIRMC because "service of process is the due process procedure that vests a court with jurisdiction over a person . . ." *McGloon v. Gwynn*, 140 Idaho 727, 730, 100 P.3d 621, 624 (2004). Accordingly, it is illogical that a federal rule or federal law could affect EIRMC's substantive rights in this state court lawsuit and/or supersede Idaho law when the federal court never had subject matter over the claim involving EIRMC and never had personal jurisdiction over EIRMC.

D. Federal case law is clear that in a diversity action the question of when an action commences for statute of limitations purposes is a substantive question governed by state law, therefore Idaho state law governs this matter.

The determinative issue/question in this case is: when was Plaintiffs' medical negligence action commenced against EIRMC for purposes of Idaho's statute of limitations? Contrary to Plaintiffs' sophistry, this question cannot be answered by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, whether it is Rule 3 or Rule 15. The United State Supreme Court has held that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure do not answer the question of when a cause of action derived from state law

commences for purposes of the state's statute of limitations: "In our view, in diversity actions [Federal] Rule 3 governs the date from which various timing requirements of the Federal Rules begin to run, but does not affect state statutes of limitations." *Walker v. Armco Steel Corp.*, 446 U.S. 740, 751, 100 S. Ct. 1978, 64 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1980). In a concurring opinion, Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Chief Judge (at the time) Kozinkski concisely summarized *Walker*:

Confronted with a state substantive rule (the statute of limitations) and a federal procedural rule fixing the date when a civil action commences, the Court held that there was no conflict because the two rules dealt with different questions. Id. at 750-51, 100 S. Ct. 1978. The federal rule, the Court noted, set the date for the commencement of the action for the purpose of measuring various time periods internal to the lawsuit. Id. at 751, 100 S. Ct. 1978. The rule wasn't meant to affect the time when the statute of limitations was tolled by commencement of the lawsuit. Id. at 751-53, 100 S. Ct. 1978. The latter was a matter of state substantive law. Because the federal procedural rule and the state substantive rule could co-exist peaceably within their respective spheres, the Court concluded that each could be given full effect: The state rule would perform the backwards-looking function of determining whether the action was brought within the statute of limitations, whereas the federal rule would determine when the action began for the forward-looking purpose of measuring time periods applicable to the litigation. *Id.* at 750-53, 100 S. Ct. 1978.

... a broad reading of the federal procedural rule could impinge on the substantive state law right by extending the statute of limitations. This would have led to the "inequitable administration" of the law" by giving these plaintiffs greater rights than they would have enjoyed in state court, "solely because of the fortuity that there is diversity of citizenship between the litigants." *Id.* at 753, 100 S. Ct. 1978 (internal citation omitted).

Makaeff v. Trump Univ., LLC, 715 F.3d 254, 272-73 (9th Cir. 2013) (Kozinski, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

Likewise, Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure does not answer the question of when a claim arising out of Idaho state law is commenced for purposes of Idaho's statute of

limitations. In fact, Plaintiffs never made the argument at the district court level that Fed. R. Civ. P. 15 was somehow controlling or determinative in this matter; Plaintiffs focused exclusively on Fed. R. Civ. P. 3. This appeal is the first time Plaintiffs have made such an argument regarding Fed. R. Civ. P. 15. This Court has repeatedly held that it "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Bell v. Idaho Dept. of Labor*, 157 Idaho 744, 749, 339 P.3d 1148, 1153 (2014) (citing *Sadid v. Idaho State Univ.*, 151 Idaho 932, 941, 265 P.3d 1144, 1153 (2011). Accordingly, Plaintiffs reliance on *Hanna v. Plumer*, 380 U.S. 460 (1965) and *Shady Grove Orthopedic Associates*, P.A. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 559 U.S. 393 (2010) and attempt to avoid the *Erie* doctrine in this case is misplaced and without merit because the issue or question in dispute in this matter is obviously not answered by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

It is beyond dispute that when a federal court exercises diversity jurisdiction the forum state's substantive law applies and controls. *Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins*, 304 U.S. 64, 58 S. Ct. 817, 82 L. Ed. 1188 (1938). Statutes of limitations are substantive for *Erie* purposes. *Guar. Trust Co. v. York*, 326 U.S. 99, 109-110, 65 S. Ct. 1464, 89 L. Ed. 2079 (1945). It is well established that in diversity cases state law governs not only the limitations period but also the commencement of the limitations period. *Ragan v. Merchs. Transfer & Warehouse Co.*, 337 U.S. 530, 533, 69 S. Ct. 1233, 93 L. Ed. 1520 (1949); *Guar. Trust Co. v. York*, 326 U.S. 99, 109-110, 65 S. Ct. 1464, 89 L. Ed. 2079 (1945). The Idaho Supreme Court is controlling authority on questions of Idaho law. *Commissioner v. Bosch*, 387 U.S. 456, 465, 87 S. Ct. 1776, 18 L. Ed. 2d 886 (1967). Thus, there is no question that *Griggs v. Nash*, 116 Idaho 228, 775 P.2d 120 (1989) is the substantive law that applies, controls, and dictates the outcome of this matter.

The United States Supreme Court case of *Walker v. Armco Steel Corp.*, 446 U.S. 740, 100 S. Ct. 1978, 64 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1980) is on point in this matter and Plaintiffs' attempt to distinguish it is without merit. In *Walker*, the U.S. Supreme Court squarely confronted the issue of "whether in a diversity action the federal court should follow state law or, alternatively, Rule 3 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in determining when an action is commenced for purposes of tolling the state statute of limitations." *Id.* at 741. In said case the U.S. Supreme Court noted that it had already established in earlier precedent that ""[except] in matters governed by the Federal Constitution or by Acts of Congress, the law to be applied in any [diversity] case is the law of the state." *Id.* at 745 (emphasis added).

The U.S. Supreme Court went on to state in Walker:

In construing *Erie* we noted that "[in] essence, the intent of that decision was to insure that, in all cases where a federal court is exercising jurisdiction solely because of the diversity of citizenship of the parties, the outcome of the litigation in federal court should be substantially the same, so far as legal rule determine the outcome of the litigation, as it would be if tried in a State court." (Citation omitted). We concluded that the state statute of limitations should be applied. "Plainly enough, a statute that would completely bar recovery in a suit if brought in a State court bears on a State-created right vitally and not merely formally or negligibly. As to consequences that so intimately affect recovery or on-recovery a federal court in a diversity case should follow State law."

Id. at 745.

Finally, the *Walker* Court held: "In our view, in diversity actions Rule 3 governs the date from which various timing requirements of the Federal Rules begin to run, but does not affect state statutes of limitations." *Id.* at 751.

The present matter involves an alleged right to recover derived from the State of Idaho

not the United States. Accordingly, the *Erie* doctrine applies and Idaho law interpreting when a lawsuit commences for statute of limitations purposes governs the issue of when Plaintiffs' state law action commenced. As set forth above, in diversity cases the outcome of the litigation in federal court should be substantially the same as it would be if tried in a State court. Plaintiffs are arguing the exact opposite. Plaintiffs contend that this Court should follow federal law and by doing so come to a result that would be completely contrary to the outcome mandated by Idaho state law. The policies for diversity jurisdiction do not support such a distinction between state and federal plaintiffs and *Erie* and the multitude of cases that follow *Erie* do not permit such an interpretation, Accordingly, Idaho state law, specifically *Griggs*, is determinative of the outcome in this matter.

A host of federal law and secondary material is in agreement. The Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit has held:

As all parties acknowledge, it is well established that in diversity cases state law governs not only the limitations period but also the commencement of the limitations period. See Ragan v. Merchs. Transfer & Warehouse Co., 337 U.S. 530, 533, 69 S. Ct. 1233, 93 L. Ed. 1520 (1949); see also Guar. Trust Co. v. York, 326 U.S. 99, 109-10, 65 S. Ct. 1464, 89 L. Ed. 2079 (1945). The district court appears to have followed the rule for § 1983 actions, in which a state limitations period is borrowed but federal law governs when that state limitations period begins to run. (internal citations omitted). It is appropriate to use federal rules to determine when the limitations period begins to run for a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because the cause of action is created by federal law. When federal jurisdiction is based on diversity, as it is in this case, however, state substantive law must govern. See Guar. Trust, 326 U.S. at 109-110; Erie R.R. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64, 79-80, 58 S. Ct. 817, 82 L. Ed. 1188 (1938). A state's rules providing for the start and length of the statute of limitations is substantive law. See e.g., Klehr v. A.O. Smith Corp., 87 F.3d 231, 235 (8th Cir.),

aff'd, 521 U.S. 179, 117 S. Ct. 1984, 138 L. Ed. 2d 373 (1997); Nev. Power Co. v. Monsanto Co., 955 F.2d 1304, 1306 (9th Cir. 1992).

Cantor Fitzgerald v. Lutnick, 313 F.3d 704, 709-10 (2002) (emphasis added).

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that the federal civil rule governing commencement of an action (Fed. R. Civ. P. 3) "does not commence a suit based on state law for purposes of the statute of limitations . . . [but] does commence a suit based on federal law that has a statute of limitations borrowed from federal law." Sain v. City of Bend, 309 F.3d 1134, 1138 (9th Cir. 2002) (internal citations omitted). See also Tornabene v. Marcial, 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14198, *3 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) ("Marcial correctly asserts that, for statute of limitations purposes, the time at which a diversity action is commenced depends on the laws of the state whose substantive law governs the controversy." (citations omitted) (emphasis added)); Durrett v. Leading Edge Prods., 965 F. Supp. 280, 286 (D. Conn. 1997) ("As this is a diversity action arising under Connecticut law, Connecticut state law governs the manner in which the action is to be considered commenced for purposes of the state statute of limitations." (citation omitted) (emphasis added); Reliance Ins. Co. v. Polyvision Corp., 390 F. Supp. 2d 269, 272 (E.D.N.Y. 2005) ("In this diversity case, it is the law of the State of New York that governs the time in which the action must be commenced as well as any applicable toll." (citation omitted) (emphasis added)).

Wright and Miller's authoritative treatise on federal procedure concisely states the applicable rule:

In federal actions based on diversity of citizenship jurisdiction, federal courts apply state law to decide when a lawsuit was commenced for certain purposes, such as computing limitations periods.

4 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure § 1052 (3d ed. 1998 & Supp. 2006).

Interestingly, the case Plaintiffs cite to in their opening brief as standing for the proposition that federal procedural law is clear that an amended complaint is deemed filed as of the date the motion to amend is filed actually holds:

The Court concludes that the issue of when this action commenced as a class action for purposes of removal under CAFA is governed by state law, not federal law. As the *Schillinger* court regognized, "in cases for which state law provides the rule of decision, federal courts apply state statute of limitations, including qualifications on those statutes." 425 F.3d at 334. *Cf. Pace v. DiGuglielmo*, 544 U.S. 408, 415, 125 S. Ct. 1807, 161 L. Ed. 2d 669 (2005) (looking to state law to determine when a pleading has been "properly filed" for purposes of a federal statute of limitations); *Walker v. Armco Steel Corp.*, 446 U.S. 740, 751, 100 S. Ct. 1978, 64 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1980) (state law determines when an action commences for statute of limitations purposes)...

"In federal actions based on diversity of citizenship jurisdiction, federal courts apply state law to decide when a lawsuit was commenced for certain purposes, such as computing limitations periods. (internal citation omitted). This rule is based on the familiar principles enunciated in *Erie Railroad Co. v. Tompkins*, 304 U.S. 64, 58 S. Ct. 817, 82 L. Ed. 1188 (1938), that federal courts lack constitutional power to fashion broad swathes of federal common law and that, when a federal court sitting in diversity acts in effect as a state court, its application of state law should be controlled by authoritative interpretations of that law by the highest court of that state. *See Walker*, 446 U.S. at 744-45, 100 S. Ct. 1978. *See also In re Rhone-Poulenc Rorer Inc.*, 51 F.3d 1293, 1300 (7th Cir. 1995).

Buller Trucking Co. v. Owner Operator Indep. Driver Risk Retention Group., 461 F. Supp. 2d 768, 775 (S.D. Ill. 2006) (emphasis added).

Thus, under the facts of this case this Court's holding in Griggs v. Nash, 116 Idaho 228, 775 P.2d 120 (1989) is controlling and determines when the action in this matter was "commenced" against EIRMC and Dr. Taylor for statute of limitations purposes. As determined by the district court in its Opinion and Order Granting Medical Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment, Idaho law dictates that Plaintiffs Motion for Leave to File a Second Amended Complaint did not commence the action against EIRMC and Dr. Taylor; it was not until the actual filing of the second amended complaint that the action was commenced. Consequently, Plaintiffs did not commence the action against EIRMC and Dr. Taylor until after the statute of limitations had expired. Morever, even construing Terra-West, Inc. as a modification of the holding in *Griggs*, Plaintiffs failed to provide notice of the impending action/substance of the amendment in either of the two exclusive ways provided for by this Court in Terra-West, Inc. Accordingly, Plaintiffs' claims against EIRMC and Dr. Taylor are barred by the statute of limitations. Therefore, the district court's decisions granting summary judgment for EIRMC and Dr. Taylor and denying Plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration should be affirmed.

E. The April 9, 2014 ex parte Order obtained by Plaintiffs in federal court is void and has no value or applicability to this matter because the federal court was without jurisdiction.

On March 4, 2014 (after the federal court remanded this case back to state court, was divested of jurisdiction, and after EIRMC had been served with the Second Amended Complaint)

Plaintiffs filed a Rule 60 Motion to Clarify Docket Entry Order in federal court. R. Vol. 2, pp.

283-284. Because EIRMC was never a party to the federal court proceedings and because copies

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